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Built in 1915-17, with public and private funds, and dedicated as a Memorial to 
the women of the Civil War, the Red Cross Main Headquarters building, is a large 
white stone building, designed in the Beaux Arts style with traditional classical 
ornaments. The architects were Breck Trowbridge and Goodhue Livingston of 
New York, and the building was constructed by the Boyle-Robertson Construction 
Company of Washington. The cornerstone was laid March 27, 1915, the first occupants 
moved in February 3, 1917, and the completed building was dedicated May 12, 1917. 
The final cost of the site and building was $ 854,197.51.

As described by Nancy Schwartz, of the Historic American Buildings Survey, in the 
District of Columbia Catalog (1976) the American Red Cross National Headquarters 
building, on the west side of 17th Street, N.W., between D and E Streets, is 
constructed of white Vermont marble, eleven bays wide across the east front by 
five bays, three stories in height on a raised basement, with the third story 
recessed behind a balustrade.

The hipped roof has tall interior chimneys. A projecting testrastyle 
Corinthian entrance portico with pediment stretches across the central east facade, 
while the remaining bays of this principal facade are separated by two-story 
engaged Corinthian columns. The end (north and south) elevations have slightly 
projecting unpedimented porticoes.

The main bronze grille entrance doors lead into a broad central hall finished 
in marble, with a wide stairway to the second floor. Above this stairway are 
three marble busts, "Faith," "Hope," and "Charity" by the noted American 
sculptor Hiram Powers. In the central lobby areas on all three floors of the 
building are paintings, sculpture and historical exhibits. On the second story, 
The Board of Governors Hall occupies the entire north end of the building. Three 
stained-glass windows by Louis Comfort Tiffany comprise the center of one wall. 
The panels are of St. Filomena, patron saint of the sick; a group of armored 
knights, symbolizing Red Cross services in war; and a figure representing Truth, 
with an apron overflowing with red roses. The Central Committee Room 
occupies the central portion of the east side of the second story. The Chairman, 
the President, and a Vice President occupy offices at the south end of the 
second story.

The Red Cross complex occupies the entire city block, is known as Red Cross 
Square, and includes two additional administration buildings on the north and 
west, one begun in 1928 and the other in 1931, and a landscaped garden in the 
middle of the block. Only the original, main headquarters building (1915-17), on 
the east end of the block has been designated as the national historic landmark.
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American Red Cross

Main Headquarters of the Nation's largest official relief organization, the 
National Headquarters building has seen the Red Cross grow from 120 local 
chapters befor the American entry into World War I to about 3,100 chapters now 
serving every State and territory of the United States. Built with both Federal 
and private funds, this building illustrates the cooperation of government and 
private efforts in carrying out the important duties of the Red Cross. Federal 
legislation creating a commission for a Memorial to the Women of the Civil War 
was enacted on October 22, 1913, charging the members to procure a site and design 
a memorial building to be the permanent headquarters of the American Red Cross. 
The "Marble Palace" was the result.

The United States was being ravaged by civil war when the Red Cross movement was 
forming in Europe. Forerunners of the effort here were the work of the United 
States Sanitary Commission during the Civil War, and the work of an individual, 
Clara Barton., She cared for soldiers of the Union and the Confederacy on battle­ 
fields and in military hospitals, inspiring others to follow her lead. In 1881, 
Clara Barton succeeded in founding the American Association of the Red Cross 
and the following year, Congress ratified the Geneva Convention, giving the 
Red Cross official sanction. The American National Red Cross was granted a 
Congressional charter in 1900.

One of the new organization's first acts was in behalf of the victims of the 
devastating Michigan forest fires of 1881. Disaster relief operations continued 
in 1882, 1884,, and 1889 following the severe flooding of various rivers. The 
idea of an organized program of voluntary relief for disaster victims 
was the major contribution of Clara Barton to the Red Cross movement worldwide. 
(See also, Clara Barton House, Glen Echo, Maryland, National Historic Site).

Mabel T. Boardman assumed a leading role in the American Red Cross in 1904. In 
1905, the present charter of the American National Red Cross went into effect. 
The charter, still in effect, reaffirmed Red Cross responsibilities for disaster 
relief and for assistance to the armed forces, required annual reports to 
Congress, and placed the actual direction of the Red Cross in the hands of a 
Central Committee. An amendment in 1947 broadened chapter representation on 
the governing body, renaming it the Board of Governors.

(Continued)
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American Red Cross National Headquarters

Although the duties of the Red Cross are imposed by the Congressional charter, the 
organization is supported mostly by the voluntary contributions of the American 
people. In times of public distress, the President of the United States makes 
government transportation and communication facilities available to the Red Cross 
to facilitate its work.

In 1909 the Red Cross turned its attention to an additional field—that of nursing. 
Programs such as elementary hygiene and home care of the sick were organized. 
Wilbert Longfellow, in 1914 persuaded the Red Cross to begin courses in swimming 
and lifesaving. In 1916, at the request of the Surgeon General of the Army, the 
Red Cross undertook the organizing of hospital units. With America's entry into 
World War I, these units became U.S. Army Base Hospitals in France. The 
organization also provided nurses and other personnel to aid servicemen with 
counseling and to provide communications between the men and their families.

In the postwar period, the Red Cross broadened its program of peacetime activity, 
developing new techniques in disaster relief and services to veterans, and expanding 
its health and welfare services. There was a dramatic expansion in training in 
first aid, nursing skill, and water safety. During the disastrous drought and 
depression years of the 1930's, the Red Cross was called upon by the government 
to help with the distribution of food and clothing. During the same period the 
Red Cross took the first st.eps in blood donor recruiting that led to the 
formation of Red Cross Blood Services.

In World War II, no longer responsible for organizing military hospitals and 
providing medical staff for them, the Red Cross nonetheless was engaged in numerous 
other activities. It; provided a wealth of volunteer and staff manpower in military 
hospitals, assigned field directors to major U.S. military units, supplied nearly 
13.5 million units of blood for plasma for servicemen, and operated clubs and 
clubmobiles for the men in overseas rest and recreation areas. In conjunction with 
Red Cross societies in other countries, the International Committee of the Red Cross, 
and the League of Red Cross Societies, the American Red Cross carried on extensive 
relief and rehabilitation programs for the civilian victims of the war.

After the war, marked changes were made in both the organizational structure and the 
programs of the Red Cross. Emphasis was placed on the concept of involving the 
entire community in programs and projects for young people and people of retirement 
age were much expanded.

In the 50's and 60's, after several major natural disasters, the Red Cross 
conducted enormous and costly relief operations. As government took a stronger hand 
in disaster relief, the Red Cross worked closely with governmental agencies in 
mobilizing resources for disaster and met its responsibility for emergency care. 
Its assistance included providing shelter, food, clothing, blood and blood products, 
medical and nursing care, essential household furnishings, interim housing, personal 
occupational supplies, and transportation, and meeting the most urgent immediate 
needs of families for minor repairs to make their homes livable.

(Continued)



FHR-&-300 '{11-78)

United States Department off the Interior 
lUiiiUigo OBnaii.M«li«n unil nuuiuuliun Ociiiee*

National Register of Historic Plaoes 
Inventory—Nomination Form
Continuation sheet___________________Kern number 8 ____ Page 3

American Red Cross National Headquarters

In 1948, building upon its experience in World War II, the Red Cross established 
blood services that, by the 1980's, were meeting a large share of the blood needs 
of the Nation and playing a leading role in blood research. Safety services and 
nursing and health services kept growing, and the Red Cross continued its 
service to men and women in the armed forces and assistance to veterans and 
their families.

History prepared by Carol Kolb, Research Assistant, Historic Sites 
Survey, 1975.


